FILED
03-13-2025
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN
SUPREME COURT

Appeal No. 2024AP79-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Appellant,

-vs.-

WALTER L. JOHNSON,
Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

**ON PERMISSIVE APPEAL FROM A PRETRIAL ORDER ENTERED IN
THE DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT,
THE HONORABLE JOHN D. HYLAND, PRESIDING.
DANE COUNTY CASE NO. 2021CF1178**

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Respectfully submitted:
Matthew S. Pinix, SBN 1064368

PINIX LAW, LLC
1200 East Capitol Drive, Suite 360
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53211
T: 414.963.6164 | F: 414.967.9169
matthew@pinixlaw.com
www.pinixlaw.com

Attorney for Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner

Statement of the Issues

One: Statutory interpretation

A bit of background

Walter Johnson was involved in a fatal car accident that killed his daughter and seriously injured the other vehicle’s driver. Subsequent testing established that Johnson’s blood contained methamphetamine. Our Motor Vehicle Code lists methamphetamine as a restricted controlled substance, and the State charged Johnson with having caused injury and death while driving with a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his blood.

Recognizing that one isomer of methamphetamine—L-meth—exists in readily available over-the-counter nasal spray that he used, Johnson argued that it would be absurd and unreasonable to read the Motor Vehicle Code to criminalize driving with that substance in one’s system. He averred that a proper reading of the relevant statutes would limit the restricted type of methamphetamine to a different isomer—

D-meth (the type found in the street drug)—than the L-meth that is readily available in over-the-counter nasal sprays.¹

The circuit court agreed with Johnson. But that decision had adverse consequences for the State: it had destroyed Johnson's blood sample without testing to differentiate between L-meth and D-meth. Thus, if the State was required to prove that Johnson had D-meth and not L-meth in his blood, it couldn't. The State sought permission to appeal, which the court of appeals granted.

The court of appeals reversed, holding that "methamphetamine" as used in the restricted controlled substance statute is inclusive of both L-meth (nasal sprays) and D-meth (the street drug).

Issue presented

Whether the circuit court rightly determined that the Legislature did not intend the Motor Vehicle Code's use of "methamphetamine" to include L-meth when the contrary interpretation would make it unlawful to drive with a widely-available, over-the-counter nasal spray in your system?

This Court should grant review and reinstate the lower court's ruling.

Two: A matter of appellate court jurisdiction

A bit of background

As noted above, the State commenced the current proceedings by filing a petition for permissive appeal, asking the court of appeals to review the statutory interpretation issue that led the circuit court to its ruling. The court of appeals granted that petition.

In the circuit court, Johnson had presented a constitutional claim as an alternative to his statutory interpretation claim. But the circuit court's written order from which the State sought to appeal expressly did not decide that constitutional question. Instead, the circuit court concluded that its decision on the statutory

¹ Throughout these proceedings, the abbreviations of those isomers have been stylized differently. Sometimes, they were written as *l*-methamphetamine and *d*-methamphetamine; other times, as L-meth and D-meth. Johnson will herein follow the convention used in the court of appeals' decision.

interpretation question rendered any decision on the constitutional question unnecessary.

The State did not include that constitutional issue in its petition for leave to appeal. Nonetheless, the State raised it for the first time in briefing, and the court of appeals decided it.

Issue presented

In a permissive appeal, does the court of appeals have jurisdiction to decide for the first time an issue that was not decided by the lower court, expressly excluded from the court's written order, and not part of the petition for leave to appeal?

This Court should grant review and hold that the appellate court's jurisdiction in a permissive appeal is limited to issues decided below and to those issues presented in the petition for leave to appeal.

Statement of Criteria for Review

Whether the Motor Vehicle Code should be interpreted to criminalize driving with a detectable amount of a widely-available, over-the-counter nasal spray in your system is a novel question with statewide impact. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)2. The court of appeals' decision in Johnson's case is the only appellate decision to have addressed that issue, and it reversed the lower court's statutory interpretation. The divergence of opinion between those two courts signals that reasonable jurists can disagree as to how the relevant statutes should be interpreted.

And yet, this Court, not the court of appeals, is responsible for "law defining and law development," tasks that are "designated [to it] by the constitution and the legislature." *Cook v. Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 189, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997) (quotation omitted). As the final voice in deciding how Wisconsin's statutes are to be properly interpreted and in consideration of the disagreement between the circuit court and the court of appeals, this Court's review of Johnson's case is needed. The Court's review will define and develop the law of this state by answering the novel statutory interpretation question that Johnson's case presents, constituting a ground for granting this petition. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c).

This Court should also grant review of Johnson's case to consider the limits of appellate jurisdiction in a permissive appeal. The court of appeals' choice to decide the undecided constitutional issue in Johnson's case conflicts with established rules of appellate procedure and the court of appeals' own prior cases. First, it is well established that appellate jurisdiction requires a written order from which an appeal may be taken. *State v. Powell*, 70 Wis. 2d 220, 222, 234 N.W.2d 345 (1975). But in Johnson's case, there is no written order deciding the constitutional question (in fact, the written order from which the State appealed expressly did not decide it). The court of appeals should not have had jurisdiction over that issue, and yet it decided the claim anyway. Second, the State did not include the constitutional issue in its petition for leave to appeal. The court of appeals has before limited the issues that may be considered in permissive appeals to those set forth in the petition. *State v. Aufderhaar*, 2004 WI App 208, ¶ 1, 277 Wis. 2d 173, 689 N.W.2d 674. The court of appeals' choice to decide the constitutional issue in Johnson's case despite its non-inclusion in the State's petition is thus contrary to its own prior decisions. Review is appropriate to address the conflict between the court of appeals' decision in this case and extant controlling authority. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(d).

Statement of the Case

In the fall of 2020, Walter Johnson was involved in a car accident. (R.2:2.)² Tragically, that accident killed his daughter and injured the other car's driver. (*Id.*:3-4.)

Wisconsin's Motor Vehicle Code lists "methamphetamine" as a restricted controlled substance, and it prohibits driving with a detectable amount of that substance in one's blood. Wis. Stat. §§ 340.01(50m), 346.01(1), 346.63(1)(am). After the State Crime Lab reported that Johnson's blood had tested positive for methamphetamine, the State charged him with multiple felonies. (*See* R.2:1-2, 5.)

In pretrial proceedings, Johnson sought to dismiss the State's case because the Crime Lab had destroyed his blood sample. (R.41.) Johnson made two arguments for dismissal, but only one is relevant to the present appeal: that destruction of his

² Johnson's case is before this Court on permissive appeal from a pretrial ruling. As such, there's not yet been an adjudication or finding of Johnson's guilt; he thus maintains the presumption of innocence to which our laws entitle him.

blood sample rendered the State unable to prove his guilt. (*Id.*:1-2.) In support of that claim, Johnson averred that there are two isomers of methamphetamine—L-meth and D-meth—and it is unlawful to drive with only one—D-meth—in your system. (*Id.*:3.) As Johnson’s reasoning went, proving that he’d driven with D-meth in his system was necessary to prove him criminally liable because, if it was L-meth, he’d committed no crime. (*Id.*:3-6.) But the State had destroyed Johnson’s blood without testing to identify the specific isomer that it contained. (*Id.*) And thus, argued Johnson, the State’s case should be dismissed because it could not prove that he drove with the illegal form of methamphetamine in his system. (*Id.*)

The circuit court conducted a statutory interpretation analysis and concluded that Johnson was correct: to secure a guilty verdict, the State would have to prove that he’d driven with D-meth in his system, not L-meth. (R.111:12-21; P-Ap 41-50.) The circuit court reached that conclusion by wading through a morass of interrelated statutes and regulatory provisions that the court decided had to be read together. (*Id.*) Finding ambiguity in those statutes, the circuit court turned to the legislative history behind enactment of the restricted controlled substances law. (*Id.*:18-20; P-Ap 47-49.) That legislative history convinced the circuit court that L-meth cannot be a restricted controlled substance under the Motor Vehicle Code because it is available in over-the-counter medications that can be lawfully possessed. (*Id.*:18-21; P-Ap 47-50.) Surely, reasoned the court, the Legislature did not mean to criminalize one’s driving with a detectable amount of a legally-procured, over-the-counter medication in one’s system. (*Id.*) Thus, concluded the court, proper interpretation of the operative statutes meant that Johnson could be guilty of a crime only if the State could prove that the methamphetamine in his system was D-meth. (*Id.*)

In addition to his statutory interpretation argument, Johnson also made an alternative constitutional claim. (R.89:1.) Namely, he argued that if L-meth was criminalized along with D-meth, the relevant statutory scheme would violate his substantive due process and equal protection rights, as applied. (*Id.*) But in its order, the circuit court expressly withheld judgment on Johnson’s constitutional claim: “Since this Court has determined that *l*-methamphetamine is not a restricted controlled substance for purposes of the Motor Vehicle Code, this Court need not address the issue of . . . constitutionality.” (R.111:20; P-Ap 49.)

Ultimately, the circuit court refused to dismiss the case against Johnson because it found that the State could still convict him if it could figure out some way to prove which of the isomers was in his system. (*Id.*:20-21; P-Ap 49-50.) If the State could prove that it was D-meth, it could convict Johnson; if not, he'd be acquitted. (*Id.*) And thus, the case would proceed to trial. (*Id.*:21-22; P-Ap 50-51.) But the case would also move forward because Johnson was charged with other serious felonies—including an alternate homicide charge—the proof of which did not depend on what methamphetamine was in his system. (*See* R.44 (amended information).)

So, while the State beat back the bulk of defense's motion to dismiss, the circuit court's requirement that the State prove that Johnson had D-meth in his system caused it some trouble. (*See* R.116:3.) Namely, the State was never going to be able to prove that Johnson's methamphetamine was D-meth because the Crime Lab had destroyed his blood sample. (*See id.*) Without that sample, the State could not test it to discern which of the two isomers was present and, relatedly, could not prove at trial that it was the illegal one. (*See id.*)

The State asked the court of appeals for permission to appeal from the nonfinal order on Johnson's motion to dismiss. (*Id.*:1-3.) It wanted the court of appeals to weigh in on whether the circuit court had rightly interpreted the operative statutes such that the State would be required to prove that Johnson drove with D-meth in his system. (*Id.*:1-3.) The State's petition did not ask the court of appeals to review the constitutional question.

But by the time it filed its opening brief in the court of appeals, the State expanded the issues that it wanted reviewed beyond what it had put in its petition. *See* App.'s Br., 2024AP79-CR at 7 (filed Aug. 7, 2024). In its brief, the State asked the court of appeals to also decide whether "the classification of L-meth as a restricted controlled substance [is] unconstitutional as applied to Johnson under either the due process clause or the equal protection clause?" *Id.* The State's brief rightly noted that "[t]he circuit court did not reach this question," but nonetheless asked the court of appeals to decide it anyway. *Id.*

In his response brief, Johnson argued that the court of appeals should not decide the constitutional issue because it was not properly before the court. Resp.'s Br., 2024AP79-CR at 16-18 (filed Sept. 30, 2024). Johnson contended that the

constitutional issue was out of bounds because it was not part of the State's petition for permissive appeal and had not been decided by the lower court. *Id.* at 16-18.

The court of appeals decided both issues. *State v. Johnson*, No. 2024AP79-CR, slip op., ¶¶2-3 (Wis. Ct. App. Feb. 13, 2025); (P-Ap 4-5). It concluded that the circuit court had erred in its interpretation of the operative statutes, and thus that the State would not be required to prove which isomer was in Johnson's system. *Id.* ¶ 3; (P-Ap 5.) Unlike the circuit court, the court of appeals could find no ambiguity in the law, and thus did consider the legislative history behind it. *Id.* ¶ 38; (P-Ap 23). According to the court of appeals, Johnson would be guilty regardless of whether he was driving with L-meth or D-meth in his system. *Id.* ¶ 54; (P-Ap 29). The lower court's order would thus be reversed. *Id.* As for the constitutional issue, the court of appeals decided it adversely to Johnson. *Id.* ¶ 53; (P-Ap 29).

Johnson now petitions for this Court's review.

Argument

I. This Court should grant review to consider a matter of first impression: whether the Legislature intended the Motor Vehicle Code's use of "methamphetamine" to criminalize driving with a detectable amount of a widely-available, over-the-counter nasal spray in your system?

The fundamental question in this case is what the word "methamphetamine" means as it occurs in the Motor Vehicle Code's definition of a "restricted controlled substance." Wis. Stat. § 340.01(50m). If the Legislature intended that term to be inclusive of both L-meth and D-meth, then the Motor Vehicle Code criminalizes driving with a detectible amount of over-the-counter nasal spray in your blood. On the other hand, if the Legislature intended "methamphetamine" to mean only D-meth, then operating a car after using over-the-counter nasal spray is not a crime but driving after using the street drug is.

The circuit court considered the Motor Vehicle Code, the Controlled Substances Code, and affiliated federal rules and regulations in concert to conclude that the Legislature could not possibly have intended to criminalize L-meth when it used the term "methamphetamine." (R.111:12-20; P-Ap 41-49.) The court of appeals, on the other hand, considered those same authorities and reached the opposite result: the

Legislature must have intended to include both L-meth and D-meth when it wrote “methamphetamine.” *Johnson*, 2024AP79, ¶¶ 24-38; (P-Ap 15-23). And thus, according to the court of appeals’ interpretation, a person who drives after using an over-the-counter nasal spray containing L-meth is just as criminally liable as a person who drives after using the street drug containing D-meth. *See id.*

It is worth noting that the nasal spray that the court of appeals’ statutory interpretation will criminalize is sold at multiple big-box pharmacies under their house label.³ And it is remarkably affordable, costing less than \$5.00 per container.⁴ Given the easy access to those medications and their affordability, it is highly likely that countless individuals are driving on Wisconsin roads with L-meth in their system every day. Just to display for this Court the scale of possibility, *Johnson* will note that there were 4.4 million licensed drivers in Wisconsin in 2024. Wis. DMV, *DMV 2023 Facts & Figures*, 42 (available at <https://bit.ly/3XG9yUo>) (last visited Mar. 11, 2025). In Madison and on Highway 51 near where *Johnson*’s accident occurred, daily traffic totals show the route is traveled by approximately 45,000 cars a day. Wis. DOT, *WisDOT Traffic Counts*, Site 130266, <https://bit.ly/3DmOGuL> (last accessed Mar. 11, 2025). That number increases nearly fourfold to 174,000 cars per day when one looks at daily traffic navigating the Marquette Interchange in Milwaukee. *Id.* at Site 400016. In short, there are hundreds of thousands—if not millions—of people driving cars on Wisconsin roadways every day. And before setting out, any number of those people could have used the L-meth nasal spray that they’d bought over-the-counter at their neighborhood pharmacy.

But how many of those drivers would realize that they were breaking the law simply because they were driving after having used a medication that they bought over the counter? *See* Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(am) (unlawful to drive with restricted controlled substance in blood). It is worth highlighting that the unlawfulness of those drivers’ actions has nothing to do with any intoxicating effect caused by the inhaler. *Compare id. with* Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). Instead, an otherwise completely sober driver could break the law solely by virtue of having a detectable amount of L-meth in their blood, Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(am), which is known to be “an inert form

³ *See, e.g.*, Walgreens, *Walgreens Vapor Inhaler 0.01oz x 3 pack*, <https://bit.ly/walgreensvapoinhale> (last accessed Mar. 11, 2025), Meijer, *Meijer Decongestant Vapor Inhaler, .007 oz*, <https://bit.ly/meijervapoinhale> (last accessed Mar. 11, 2025), Dollar General, *DG Health Vapor Inhaler, 1 ct*, <https://bit.ly/dollargenvapoinhale> (last accessed Mar. 11, 2025).

⁴ *Id.*

[of methamphetamine] with little or no physiological effects” while D-meth “has the active physiological effects characteristic of [methamphetamine],” *United States v. Carroll*, 6 F.3d 735, 743 (11th Cir. 1993).

This Court should take Johnson’s case to assess whether the Legislature intended such absurd results when it listed “methamphetamine” as a restricted controlled substance in the Motor Vehicle Code. That analysis will be novel, clarify the law of this state, and have statewide impact. Whichever interpretation this Court accepts, its review will shine a light on the issue.

If the Court agrees with the circuit court, then Wisconsinites can drive on the roadways after using nasal spray without fear of criminal consequences. On the other hand, if this Court agrees with the court of appeals, then at least the Court’s consideration of the issue will more widely inform Wisconsinites of the perils of driving after using nasal spray. After all, more attention is paid to this Court’s decisions than those of the court of appeals. And on that point, if this Court believes that the law is poorly written to include nasal spray as a restricted controlled substance but feels constrained by the rules of statutory interpretation to reach that conclusion, the Court can nonetheless use its decision to highlight any absurdities and call for the Legislature to address them.

This Court should grant review.

II. This Court should grant review because the court of appeals lacked jurisdiction in this permissive appeal to decide an issue that was expressly not decided by the lower court and not included in the State’s petition for leave to appeal.

A. The court of appeals decision is contrary to well-established law that says an appellate court lacks jurisdiction when there is not a written order deciding an issue.

The court of appeals’ jurisdiction is statutorily conferred. Wis. Const. Art. 7 § 5 (“The appeals court shall have such appellate jurisdiction . . . as the legislature may provide by law . . .”); *see also* Wis. Stat. § 752.01(1) (“The court of appeals has appellate jurisdiction as provided by law.”). It may, by granting leave to appeal, exercise its jurisdiction over nonfinal orders in what are known as permissive or interlocutory appeals. Wis. Stat. § 808.03(2). Permissive appeals allow the appellate court to review a nonfinal order “in advance of a final judgment or order.” *Id.*

To appeal a nonfinal order by permissive appeal, a party must “seek leave of the court to appeal . . . by filing . . . within 14 days after the entry of the judgment or order a petition and supporting memorandum, if any.” Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.50(1). “An order is ‘entered’ when it is filed [with] the clerk of the circuit court.” *State v. Wolverton*, 193 Wis. 2d 234, 259, 533 N.W.2d 167 (1995), abrogated on other grounds by *State v. Dubose*, 2005 WI 126, 285 Wis. 2d 143, 699 N.W.2d 582; *see also* Wis. Stat. § 807.11(2).

It has long been the rule that “[t]he appellate court is without jurisdiction until an order is entered in writing.” *State v. Powell*, 70 Wis. 2d 220, 222, 234 N.W.2d 345 (1975). Accordingly, “if a party seeks to invoke the jurisdiction of the appellate court, the order [to be appealed] must be in writing.” *Id.* Thus, to trigger the court of appeals’ jurisdiction to review a nonfinal order in a permissive appeal, there must be a written order. “[P]arties cannot, either by failure to raise the question or by consent, confer jurisdiction upon an appellate court to review an order which is not appealable.” *Id.* at 221.

But in Johnson’s case, there is no written order deciding the constitutional issue that the State presented in its brief. (R.111:20; P-Ap 49.) In fact, quite to the contrary, the circuit court’s written order expressly refused to decide that issue. (*Id.*) Thus, contrary to the aforementioned authority, the court of appeals in Johnson’s case exceeded its jurisdiction by considering—in a published decision—an issue that was undecided by the circuit court in the written order from which the State appealed. *See Johnson*, 2024AP79, ¶¶ 39-53; (P-Ap 23-29).

This Court should grant review because the court of appeals’ decision is in conflict with controlling law. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(d).

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