**FILED**  
**04-28-2025**  
**CLERK OF WISCONSIN**  
**SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF WISCONSIN  
IN SUPREME COURT

---

No. 2024AP79-CR

---

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

WALTER L. JOHNSON,

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

---

**RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO  
PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

JOSHUA L. KAUL  
Attorney General of Wisconsin

NICHOLAS S. DESANTIS  
Assistant Attorney General  
State Bar #1101447

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

Wisconsin Department of Justice  
Post Office Box 7857  
Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857  
(608) 266-8556  
(608) 294-2907 (Fax)  
desantisns@doj.state.wi.us

## INTRODUCTION

The State of Wisconsin opposes Walter L. Johnson's petition for review of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals' opinion, *State v. Johnson*, 2025 WI App 20 (Kloppenburger, P.J.), (Pet-App. 3–29). Johnson drove over 120 miles per hour, crashed his vehicle, and killed a child, all with 24 ng/mL of methamphetamine in his blood. He was charged with several crimes, including homicide by vehicle with a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his blood and operating with a restricted amount of a controlled substance in his blood causing injury. Johnson moved to dismiss these two counts on the basis that the State failed to prove his blood sample contained D-meth (the isomer of methamphetamine most commonly seen in criminal law) versus L-meth (a different isomer of methamphetamine, sometimes found in very small amounts in certain nasal inhalers). The State argued that the statutes in question unambiguously define “methamphetamine,” and not just one specific isomer of methamphetamine, as a restricted controlled substance.

The circuit court agreed with Johnson. However, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals reversed in a published opinion. The court of appeals held that “methamphetamine,” including L-meth, is unambiguously a restricted controlled substance. The court also rejected Johnson's alternative argument that making L-meth a restricted controlled substance is unconstitutional. Johnson seeks this Court's review.

Review is not warranted. The court of appeals' decision will be the first published Wisconsin case to answer this question. However, a petitioner must still show “special and important reasons” for granting review. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r). None exist here. The court of appeals correctly interpreted the statute, and its decision is well-reasoned. There is no need for this Court to repeat the court of appeals' correct analysis.

## BACKGROUND

According to the complaint, Johnson drove more than 120 miles per hour on Stoughton Road in Madison. *Johnson*, 2025 WI App 20, ¶ 6. He flipped the car, crashed into an oncoming vehicle, went down an embankment, and eventually came to rest on a frontage road. *Id.* His passenger died. *Id.* The driver of the vehicle he struck was injured. *Id.* A subsequent test of Johnson's blood sample showed that his blood contained 24 ng/mL of methamphetamine at the time of the crash. *Id.* ¶ 7. Johnson was charged with several crimes, including homicide by vehicle with a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his blood (Count 1) and operating with a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in the blood, causing injury (Count 3). *Id.* ¶ 5.

In March 2022, approximately one and one-half years after the crash, Johnson's blood sample was discarded, consistent with the Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene's retention policy. *Id.* ¶ 7. Then, in July 2022, Johnson moved to dismiss Counts 1 and 3 on the basis that the State could not prove his blood contained a restricted controlled substance. *Id.* ¶ 8. He argued that L-meth is not a "restricted controlled substance" under Wis. Stat. §§ 340.01(50m), 939.22(33), and 967.055(1m)(b). *Johnson*, 2025 WI App 20, ¶ 9.

The circuit court held evidentiary hearings on Johnson's motion. *Id.* ¶ 10. The testimony established, among other things, that the Hygiene Laboratory does not possess the necessary equipment to distinguish between D-meth and L-meth in the blood. *Id.* It also established that the impairing effects of L-meth are generally milder than those of the same quantity of D-meth, although L-meth can still cause impairment in quantities exceeding the recommended dose. *Id.* ¶¶ 10–11. Johnson argued that L-meth is not a "controlled substance" under Wis. Stat. ch.

961 because it can be lawfully sold over the counter. *Johnson*, 2025 WI App 20, ¶¶ 27–28. Based on this claim, he argued that the statutory definitions of methamphetamine as a “restricted controlled substance” are ambiguous, and he urged the court to interpret “methamphetamine” as meaning only the specific isomer D-meth. *Id.* Alternatively, he argued that making L-meth a restricted controlled substance would violate due process and equal protection. *Id.* ¶ 39.

The circuit court agreed with Johnson that “methamphetamine,” as used in the restricted controlled substances statutes, refers only to the specific isomer D-meth. *Id.* ¶ 11. The circuit court concluded that L-meth is not a “controlled substance” because it cannot be regulated under chapter 961, which renders the word “methamphetamine” ambiguous in the definition of a “restricted controlled substance.” (Pet-App. 46.) The court then used legislative history to resolve the ambiguity and concluded that “methamphetamine” actually means only the specific isomer D-meth. (Pet-App. 49.) The court did not reach Johnson’s alternative constitutional arguments. (Pet-App. 49.) The circuit court did not dismiss the complaint, but it clarified that the State would need to prove Johnson’s blood contained D-meth as opposed to L-meth. (Pet-App. 50.)

The Wisconsin Court of Appeals reversed this decision in an opinion recommended for publication, *State v. Johnson*, 2025 WI App 20 (Kloppenburger, P.J.), (Pet-App. 3–29). The court of appeals first explained that contrary to Johnson’s assertion, L-meth itself is a controlled substance. *Id.* ¶ 33. The exceptions to regulation under chapter 961 apply only to certain specific over-the-counter products containing specified amounts of L-meth in combination with other ingredients. *Johnson*, 2025 WI App 20, ¶ 34. The court then concluded that the unqualified word “methamphetamine,” as used in the restricted controlled substance statutes, refers to all isomers of methamphetamine, not just the specific isomer D-meth.

*Id.* ¶¶ 34–38. The court also rejected Johnson’s alternative argument that the statutes in question are unconstitutional insofar as they define L-meth as a restricted controlled substance. *Id.* ¶¶ 39–53.

Johnson now asks this Court to accept review.

### **JOHNSON’S PETITION DOES NOT WARRANT REVIEW**

This Court should decline to review this case because there is no reason for this Court to repeat the lower court’s proper analysis. *State v. Lee*, 2022 WI 32, ¶ 2, 401 Wis. 2d 593, 973 N.W.2d 764, (Rebecca Grassl Bradley, J., concurring) (“There are much better uses of this court’s time than repeating work already done correctly by a lower court.”). The court of appeals’ decision was correct, its reasoning was thorough and sound, and the lower courts now have all the guidance they need on this issue.

All three statutes involved in this case, Wis. Stat. §§ 340.01(50m), 939.22(33), and 967.055(1m)(b), contain identical language defining a “restricted controlled substance” to include, without qualification, “[m]ethamphetamine.” There is no dispute that L-meth is, in fact, methamphetamine. *Johnson*, 2025 WI App 20, ¶ 1. As the court of appeals correctly explained, “The statutes do not contain any language that limits ‘methamphetamine’ to only one isomer of methamphetamine or that excludes from ‘methamphetamine’ one isomer of methamphetamine.” *Id.* ¶ 25. For this reason, L-meth is unambiguously included in the definition of a restricted controlled substance. *Id.*

Faced with this unambiguous plain language, Johnson attempted to manufacture ambiguity by arguing that L-meth is not a “controlled substance” under chapter 961. *Johnson*, 2025 WI App 20, ¶ 27. Chapter 961 states even more directly that methamphetamine “including any of [its] isomers” is a controlled substance. Wis. Stat. § 961.16(5)(b). But section

961.11(6)(a) states, “The controlled substances board shall not have authority to control a nonnarcotic substance if the substance may, under the federal food, drug and cosmetic act and the laws of this state, be lawfully sold over the counter without a prescription.” This tracks title 21 U.S.C. § 811(g)(1), which excludes any such substance from the federal drug schedules. *Johnson*, 2025 WI App 20, ¶ 30. And the federal food, drug, and cosmetic act specifically excludes two brands of nasal inhaler containing L-meth—Vicks VapoInhaler and a similar product called Rynal Spray. *Id.*

Due to this exclusion, *Johnson* reasoned that L-meth itself must not be a controlled substance. According to *Johnson*, this makes the word “methamphetamine” ambiguous as used in the definition of a restricted controlled substance. *Id.* ¶¶ 27–29, 38.

The court of appeals correctly rejected this argument and held that L-meth itself is both a controlled substance and a restricted controlled substance. The federal food, drug, and cosmetic act does not exclude L-meth itself from the drug schedule. *Id.* ¶ 28. Instead, it excludes only the specific listed products containing L-meth. As the court correctly explained, “If L-meth itself were excluded from all schedules, there would be no need to list two different products containing L-meth; instead, the table would simply list L-meth.” *Id.* ¶ 31.

In support of this common-sense plain reading of the statute, the court of appeals further explained that all four federal circuit courts to have considered this question have agreed with it. The food, drug, and cosmetic act “excludes only the specific products containing methamphetamine in a specified quantity, without suggesting that methamphetamine itself is not a controlled substance.” *Id.* ¶ 32; *United States v. Youngblood*, 949 F.2d 1065, 1066 (10th Cir. 1991) (“[O]ther uses or combinations of methamphetamine[ ] or its isomers [beyond the Vicks and other inhalers specifically excepted by 21 C.F.R. § 1308.22]

remain controlled substances under Schedule II . . . .”); *accord. United States v. Walker*, 960 F.2d 409, 414 (5th Cir. 1992); *United States v. Durham*, 941 F.2d 886, 889–90 (9th Cir. 1991); *United States v. Roark*, 924 F.2d 1426, 1428 n.2 (8th Cir. 1991).

The court of appeals also correctly noted that supplementary information published in the Federal Register when the table is amended “consistently makes clear that L-meth is a controlled substance under the federal Controlled Substances Act and that only a specific product containing not more than a specified concentration of L-meth is excluded from the schedules.” *Johnson*, 2025 WI App 20, ¶ 33; *see, e.g.*, Schedules of Controlled Substances: Table of Excluded Nonnarcotic Products: Nasal Decongestant Inhalers Manufactured by Classic Pharmaceuticals LLC, 74 Fed. Reg. 44281, 44282–83 (Aug. 28, 2009) (“Note that this exclusion only applies to the finished drug product in the form of an inhaler . . . , which is lawfully sold under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act. The extraction or removal of the active ingredient (Levmetamfetamine [L-meth]) from the inhaler shall negate this exclusion and result in the possession of a schedule II controlled substance.”).

Finally, the court of appeals correctly rejected Johnson’s alternative due process and equal protection challenges to the inclusion of L-meth as a restricted controlled substance. Johnson made a substantive due process argument that there would be no rational basis to criminalize driving with a detectable amount of L-meth, which he calls a “perfectly legal substance,” in the blood. *Johnson*, 2025 WI App 20, ¶ 46. The court of appeals correctly explained that L-meth can indeed be impairing at high doses. *Id.* The court further explained that the fact that testing cannot distinguish between L-meth and D-meth (combined with the obvious dangers of driving with D-meth in one’s system) is itself a

rational basis to make L-meth a restricted controlled substance. *Id.* ¶ 47.

Johnson's equal protection argument was that there is no rational basis to classify L-meth as a restricted controlled substance, but not dextromethorphan (a cough medicine ingredient that can cause impairment in large doses). *Id.* ¶ 51. The court of appeals correctly rejected this challenge for two reasons: (1) Johnson made no attempt to show that the impairment caused by dextromethorphan was similar to the impairment caused by L-meth, and (2) the Hygiene Laboratory's testing cannot distinguish L-meth from the highly dangerous D-meth, whereas no similar testing issue exists with dextromethorphan. *Id.* ¶ 52.

In short, the law is clear that L-meth is both a controlled substance and a restricted controlled substance. And there is now a published statewide decision, binding on Wisconsin courts, that says so. There is no need for this Court to merely repeat the work already done by the court of appeals.

Johnson's petition primarily attacks the supposed consequences of this decision, but he both misunderstands the science and makes no attempt to actually prove his claimed consequences have occurred. He makes a hyperbolic assertion that after the court of appeals' decision, "a person who drives after using an over-the-counter nasal spray containing L-meth is just as criminally liable as a person who drives after using the street drug containing D-meth." (Pet. 11.) Completely absent from this misleading argument is any attempt to actually prove what he is claiming—that anyone who lawfully uses an over-the-counter inhaler containing L-meth will necessarily have a "detectable amount" of methamphetamine in his or her blood.

As was already explained in detail in the State's court of appeals brief, Johnson's parade of horrors is based on a

misunderstanding of how testing works. The Hygiene Laboratory does not detect methamphetamine—meaning the driver does not have a “detectable” amount of methamphetamine in his blood—unless the blood sample contains more than 10 nanograms per milliliter of methamphetamine. (R-App. 3.) Johnson has not pointed to a single study suggesting that anyone’s use of the recommended dose of an over-the-counter nasal inhaler has led to anything approaching 10 nanograms per milliliter of methamphetamine in the blood.

This is likely because studies (including some that were used as exhibits in this case) suggest the opposite. *See, e.g.,* Marilyn A. Huestis et al., *Plasma and Oral Fluid l-Methamphetamine Concentrations After Controlled Vicks VapoInhaler Administration*, 2014 Proc. Am. Acad. Forensic Sci. K44; (R-App. 4–5). This Court therefore should not be fooled by Johnson’s completely unfounded claim that a great many Wisconsinites unknowingly drive each day with a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in their systems.

Finally, Johnson claims the court of appeals lacked jurisdiction to address the constitutional challenge he raised below, since the circuit court did not reach it. (Pet. 12.) Johnson’s argument misunderstands the posture of this case. Johnson argued in his brief that the court of appeals could affirm the circuit court’s decision on the basis that making L-meth a restricted controlled substance would be unconstitutional. There was no issue with making this alternative argument, as “A respondent may advance on appeal, and [the court of appeals] may consider, any basis for sustaining the trial court’s order or judgment.” *Doe v. General Motors Acceptance Corp.*, 2001 WI App 199, ¶ 7, 247 Wis. 2d 564, 635 N.W.2d 7. The court of appeals addressed this alternative argument, as it should have, and correctly

rejected it. *Johnson*, 2025 WI App 20, ¶¶ 39–53. There was nothing improper or unusual about this procedure.

### CONCLUSION

This Court should deny Johnson's petition for review.